# Administrative Reforms and Competence in Central Government Organizations

Tom Christensen · Per Lægreid





# Administrative Reforms and Competence in Central Government Organizations

TOM CHRISTENSEN
PER LÆGREID

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES

UNIFOB AS

JUNE 2008

Working Paper 7 - 2008

# Contents

Preface	3
Summary	4
Sammendrag	5
Introduction	7
Central concepts – competence	8
Fachkompetenz: Specific skills and technical knowledge	9
Policy advice competence: Intellectual and moral insight	9
Managerial competence: delivery and result-orientation	10
Boundary-spanning competence: go-betweens and brokers	10
Interacting forms of competence	11
Competence reforms	11
The Norwegian context	13
THEORETICAL APPROACHES	15
Data sources	19
THE DEPENDENT VARIABLES: THE COMPETENCE PROFILE	20
VARIATIONS IN COMPETENCE: REFORMS, STRUCTURE AND DEMOGRAPHY	22
Bivariate analyses	22
Multivariate analyses	25
DISCUSSION	28
Conclusion	30
References	31

# **Preface**

This paper is written as part of the project «Norwegian central government administration in a 30 years perspective», funded by the Meltzer Foundation. A previous version of the paper was presented at the workshop «Administrative Reform, Democratic Governance and the Quality of Government». ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops, Rennes April 11.–16., 2008. We wish to thank the participants at the workshop and Paul G. Roness for valuable comments on an earlier version of the paper.

Bergen May 16 2008-05-16 Per Lægreid, project leader

# Summary

This paper focuses on administrative competence in the Norwegian central government and its relationship to administrative reforms. Four different types of competence are addressed: Fachkompetenz, policy advice skills, managerial competence and boundary-spanning competence. Based on surveys to civil servants in the ministries and central agencies we describe how widespread these areas of competence are in Norwegian central government and how they overlap. The variation in the use of the different areas of competence are analysed from a reform perspective, a structural and a demographic perspective. We find a multiple, partly cumulative and complex competence profile. The variation in competences are first of all related to structural features such as administrative level and structural position, but also reforms elements such as performance management make a difference; and demographic features (education and gender) also have some effect.

# Sammendrag

Dette notatet fokuserer på administrativ kompetanse i norsk sentralforvaltning og hvordan denne er knyttet til administrative reformer. Det blir fokusert på fire ulike typer kompetanse: fagkompetanse, policy rådgivning, management kompetanse og grenseoverskridende kompetanse. Basert på spørreundersøkelser til ansatte i departementer og direktorater beskriver vi hvor utbredt disse kompetansetypene er i norsk sentralforvaltning og hvordan de overlapper. Variasjonene i kompetanse blir analysert med utgangspunkt i et reformperspektiv, et strukturelt og et demografisk perspektiv. Vi finner sammensatte delvis kumulative og komplekse kompetanseprofiler. Variasjonen i kompetanser er først og fremst knyttet til strukturelle faktorer slik som forvaltningsnivå og stillingsnivå, men også reformelementer slik som omfanget av målog resultatstyring spiller en rolle, Demografiske faktorer, for eksempel kjønn, har også en viss betydning.

# Introduction

Over the past two or three decades the central civil service in many countries has experienced much change and turbulence. Three different phases of development are discernible – the «old» Weberian public administration, the NPM era and, more recently, what has come to be labelled the post-NPM phase (Christensen, Lie and Lægreid 2007). Some see these as phases of dominance, whereby each new reform wave pushes aside the main features of the former generation and installs its own administrative principles. Another view, and the one we address here, is that each phase involves a rebalancing of existing and new features, including changes in the professional competence of civil servants, so that previous features continue to exist but sometimes in new or hybrid forms (Light 1997, Pierson 2004, Streeck and Thelen 2005). Thus one might face a 'Neo-Weberian Bureaucracy' (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004) or 'the ups and down of bureaucracy' (Olsen 2007). The result is an increase in the complexity of administrative organizations and cultures. When studying the history of the civil service it therefore seems appropriate to take an «archaeological» approach (Lægreid et al. 2003).

This paper focuses on administrative competence and its relationship to administrative reforms. We ask what the connection is between administrative reforms and the competence profile of civil servants, or whether changes in this profile are dependent on other factors. To what extent will administrative reform influence professional competence? Will new reform ideas and measures primarily supplement the competence profile of civil servants rather than replace it?

We will describe and analyze four different types of competence: a) Fachkompetenz – technical knowledge and judgements; b) policy advice competence – policy advice skills, intellectual and moral insights; c) managerial competence – executive and service delivery skills; and d) boundary-spanning competence – boundary-spanning skills, networks. While the first type of competence can be related to traditional public administration, the second and third are more NPM-related, and the fourth has post-NPM features. Thus we will distinguish between a traditional Weberian model of competence, an NPM model and a governance model related to post-NPM (see Peters and Pierre 2006). These categories are inspired by the work of Christopher Hood and Martin Lodge (2006) and used as a basis for the questions asked in a survey of civil servants in Norwegian ministries and central agencies, conducted in 2006–07.

In this paper we will first describe how widespread these areas of competence are in Norwegian central government and how they overlap. Second, we will try to explain variation in the use of the different areas of competence, based on the use of NPM and post-NPM reform tools, and contrast these with structural features (such as tasks, administrative level and position) and demographic features (such as gender, age and education). But before we address those questions we will elaborate on the central

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The second type could also possibly be connected to the 'old Weberian public administration'. In 1955 a new doctrine on the relationship between ministries and agencies was formulated in Norway, built on the principle that technical tasks should be moved to agencies and the administrative part of the ministries should give the political leadership policy advice and help with planning, to give the political executive a more strategic profile. This doctrine reemerged under NPM, but with a clearer division between politics and administration (Christensen 2003).

concepts of competence; give a brief outline of the competence reforms and the Norwegian context; and present our theoretical perspectives which are a reform perspective, a structural and a demographic perspective.

# Central concepts - competence

Competence is a complex concept. A traditional meaning of competence is the formal and legal authority of a civil servant or a public body. But the term can also be understood as the theoretically and practically based ability of individual civil servants to perform specific tasks (Hood and Lodge 2004, Lodge and Hood 2003). It is this latter meaning of the term that will be applied in this paper. Competencies are about what civil servants are expected to be able to know or do (Hood and Lodge 2006). The skills, expertise and abilities of civil servants are important features and core issues of modern bureaucracies.

Competence is a central theme in contemporary reforms in public administration. Over the last twenty years there has been a renewed debate about what types of competence are most important for senior civil servants and whether administrative reforms presuppose a change in competence to meet new challenges. A central debate has been about neutral versus responsive competence (Aberbach and Rockman 1994). Traditionally the Weberian bureaucracy focused on *Fachkompetenz*, which stressed expertise in a subject as the basis for providing effective policy advice to politicians and public decision-making processes. Subject expertise and technical skills form the core of the traditional bureaucratic approach to competence, but they will, of course, be important in any period or context.

The New Public Management movement, which focused on managerialism, applying business management ideas in the public sector and a customer-focused approach, is associated with changes in emphasis regarding the competence of civil servants. Contemporary approaches to competence are heavily influenced by private-sector models (Page, Hood and Lodge 2005). The NPM reforms thus pay more attention to strategic and managerial capacity and the ability to lead and deliver services. There is, however, some disagreement about how strong this link is, how it converges across countries and how much it is constrained by the historical-institutional context of the different public administration systems (Hood and Lodge 2004). A comparison of England and Germany concludes that the changes brought about in competence frameworks tended to reinforce established ideas rather than go in radically different directions (Hood and Lodge 2005). New competence policy tended to be filtered by the senior civil service to avoid making overly radical changes to the traditional model.

Changes in the environment of the bureaucracy are tending to change the role of the state from an active state towards an 'enabling' state (Page and Wright 2007) in which services and regulation are provided by a mixture of different kinds of organizations with a range of control regimes and areas of competence (Hood et al. 2004). It is claimed that senior civil servants are tending to become network managers and that the civil service as a source of policy advice is declining (Page and Wright 2007).

In this paper we will distinguish between four forms of competence defined by Hood and Lodge (2006).

#### Fachkompetenz: Specific skills and technical knowledge

The German term Fachkompetenz refers to civil servants' substantive specific skills and technical knowledge. It is a core feature of a Weberian bureaucracy and is linked to the idea of neutral competence in the Rechtstaat tradition (Kaufman 1956). In a bureaucracy dominated by Fachkompetenz subject experts run the state, and their knowledge and skills are not transferable across policy areas (Hood and Lodge 2006, 94). Their specialist expertise or technical ability can be linked to specific policy areas or to specific elements of the policy process, defined, respectively, by Gulick (1937) as the purpose or process principle in organizing the civil service. The new regulatory policy, which focuses on expert knowledge in semi-independent regulatory agencies, represents a shift in the way this kind of competence is viewed (Christensen and Lægreid 2006). Fachkompetenz skills are closely connected to different types of higher education, i.e. the different groups recruited into the civil service represent different models of thought, related to both value and factual premises (Simon 1944).

The critique of this kind of competence is that it tends to enhance vertical, sector-oriented specialization in public administration and thus increase the fragmentation of the public sector. Some responses to this critique have been to recruit more generalist-oriented professions into the civil service, introduce a generalist training of civil servants and to introduce senior executive service structures in central government. Another tool has been to introduce NPM-based features inspired by private-sector human resource management, such as an increased focus on leadership and corporate management techniques.

#### Policy advice competence: Intellectual and moral insight

This is about intuitive skills and the ability to give good policy advice in an unpredictable and ambiguous world. The main organizational form is central government bodies as a secretariat for the political leadership, and the role of high-level civil servants is to provide robust and reliable political judgement and policy advice. The main qualities of this kind of competence are the ability to read and assess political positions, to identify and evaluate political risks, and to find points of leverage in different situations (Hood and Lodge 2006, 101). It is about the ability to see and build new political coalitions and to enhance support and legitimacy for political decisions and new policy initiatives.

A basic challenge of this type of competence is not to make it too political, so that it remains expert-based and does not cross the line to a more purely political role (Christensen and Lægreid 2002). Traditionally the division between politics and administration has had grey zones, without the political and administrative roles overlapping too much (Aberbach and Rockman 1988, Campbell and Peters 1988), but in the past this was not a major problem because of shared norms and values based on trust. NPM tends to see this division as a must, but in practice it is probably more problematic than in the good old days, because NPM often brings more politicization of administrative leadership positions (Rhodes and Weller 2001, Peters and Pierre 2004).

The challenges of balancing different considerations were shown in a seminal article by Jacobsen (1960), who asserts that a primary task of an administrative leader is to balance political loyalty and neutrality. When a new political leadership takes over in a ministry, the administrative leaders have to be loyal to the new political executive, so they put their mark on policy. But if civil servants are too loyal, they will have problems adjusting and committing themselves to a new political executive, so they must also be neutral, either in a broad political or party-political sense. The other challenge is the balance between political loyalty and professional expertise implying that decisions should be based on expertise and professional knowledge but also that they have to be balanced against political signals and political goals.

#### Managerial competence: delivery and result-orientation

This is about individual executive competence and the ability to run organizations in an efficient way (Hood and Lodge 2006). The NPM slogan `let the managers manage' is related to this kind of competence and managers are given enhanced leeway and discretion in order to increase an organization's performance (Kettl 1997). Managerial leadership skills are essential in order to meet goals, objectives and targets. Performance management skills, result orientation and the ability to get things done are more important than following rules and procedures, so it is better to `do the right things' than to `do things in the right way', which traditionally has been important for legitimacy in the public sector. Civil servants are supposed to be `change agents' or strategic entrepreneurs with enhanced `freedom to manage'.

It is not easy to tell what kind of competence managerial competence really is. One way to look at it is as a greater focus on systemic expertise than on technical expertise. That means that administrative leaders are more concerned with organizing structural systems, budget and financial systems, reward systems, recruitment systems, implementation systems, etc. than with specific policies. They can be seen as design specialists formulating instruments to achieve goals and obtain results. This has some similarity to a professional management model – if you can manage one type of organization you can manage any organization. This is a generic type of leadership argument. Another way of looking at this type of competence is to say it has something to do with economic expertise, particularly because of the result orientation.

#### Boundary-spanning competence: go-betweens and brokers

This is about networking and boundary-spanning and the ability to work across organizational boundaries both vertically and horizontally. It is connected to governance approaches and post-NPM reforms and is about the ability to bring together civil servants from different policy areas and to trump hierarchy (Hood and Lodge 2006, 92). Here civil servants act as facilitators, brokers, negotiators, diplomats and go-betweens rather than exercising hierarchical authority. Individual people-oriented skills rather than technical skills are central to this kind of competence, which is especially important when facing 'wicked issues' that cross traditional sectors and policy areas. The ability to further cooperation is also valued.

This type of competence may be defined in both a structural and cultural way, as when Bardach (1998) talks about smart practice in interaction between public organizations. In structural terms it means new ways of organizing interaction inside and

between public entities. Culturally it may deal with 'value-based management' and the ability of leaders to create common cultures (Christensen, Lie and Lægreid 2007).

#### Interacting forms of competence

These four types represent different dimensions of competence but they can also overlap and supplement each other. Scoring high on one dimension of competence may also further other types of competence (Hood and Lodge 2006). Having good technical skills and expert knowledge may be a precondition for being able to give good policy advice or to operate as a broker between different sectors or policy areas. In the real world possessing combinations of different kinds of competence is more common than having just one type of competence. So we will look at the correlations between the different types of competence.

The rhetoric of NPM tends to state that the old Fachkompetenz has been replaced by delivery or managerial competence. This is something we will analyze. The post NPM-reforms tend to give priority to boundary-spanning competence. Whether this is also the case in practice is another question which will be addressed in this paper.

# Competence reforms

The traditional central government based on the Weberian model has a unitary personnel system with service-wide remuneration and conditions. Status is based on job or position with limited performance-based variations. The recruitment system, reward structure, promotion ladders and mobility pattern are strongly regulated, rule-based, and standardized, representing a distinct labor-market system (Bekke and van de Meer 2000; DiPrete 1989; Wise 1996).

Introducing private-sector management techniques into the public sector challenges the notions of a career service and lifelong employment. There has been a move towards decentralization of responsibility for hiring, firing and promotion and from collective bargaining to site or individual wage bargaining and growing use of contractual arrangements. At the same time there are demands for greater inclusiveness in the composition of the civil service. Studies demonstrate that the diversity that matters may pertain to different factors, including gender and education (Wise 2003).

New Public Management embraced market-based reforms and hence represents a shift in the employment relationship to favour management and promote greater flexibility. NPM challenged two main doctrines in traditional public administration (Dunleavy and Hood 1994). The first is the doctrine that managers should be controlled by a detailed set of rules and procedures to enhance neutrality, impartiality and political loyalty. The second is the idea that the public sector is very different from the private sector and requires special arrangements for personnel procedures and practices. In contrast, the NPM approach is «to let the managers manage» by giving them more leeway and discretion and to underline the similarities between public and private employment rather than the differences. NPM-inspired human resource management reforms represent challenges to the tenets and principles of Weberian bureaucracy. The threat to some principles, however, may be greater than it is to others. Anonymity and

permanence are more vulnerable to these efficiency-based reforms than the concepts of merit and neutrality (Lægreid and Wise 2007).

Human Resource Management was a key field for the application of contemporary public management reforms. The idea of a unified and distinct civil service was challenged by efforts to blur the borders between public and private employment systems (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). The pace of these reforms and the means by which they have been carried out have, however, differed from country to country. It seems that each country adapts the instruments available to its own institutional structure and economic and social constraints.

The general picture is a parallel process of robustness and flexibility. On the one hand, only a few countries have made drastic moves away from their traditional civil service systems. On the other hand, most of the countries have tried to reform and adapt their systems to provide flexibility. We face parallel processes of NPM-inspired reforms, introducing private-sector management tools to increase efficiency, and normative oriented reforms enhancing social equity and equality (Lægreid and Wise 2007). Both these trends promote individualization, but the change processes are heavily constrained by traditional civil service systems and historical-institutional contexts

In many countries the traditional tenured public service has been replaced with a contractual regime, but the system of contracts and its application differs from country to country (Lægreid 2001, Gregory and Christensen 2004, Putsey and Hondeghem 2004). Some reform measures, like short-term contracts and performance-related pay, are thought to be more common among senior managers than among other public service staff (OECD 2004b).

One trend is to put more emphasis on recruiting executives with management and leadership capabilities. Recruitment has changed from closed to more open competition and marked-based systems in many countries, but generally the number of outside recruits remains a minority (OECD 2003). Active efforts to recruit women and minorities in some countries, however, have expanded diversity and representativeness. Within this context, the importance of seniority as a criterion has decreased and promotions are now more likely to be linked to performance and personal competence.

The classical distinction between a closed «career-based» civil service system with centralized recruitment, promotion and training and an open «position-based» civil service system with decentralized management of appointment, promotion and training is still relevant. But both the traditional career-based system and the position-based system have been subject to reform pressures: the former because it lacks adaptability and the latter because it lacks collectivity (OECD 2005). Career-based systems introduce external competition for open positions, performance management systems and the delegation of responsibility for human resource management. Position-based systems introduce more competitive processes and transparent procedures.

There is still great diversity among OECD countries in how the political-administrative interface is managed when it comes to recruitment and mobility. In some countries each change of government is accompanied by the appointment of new executive officers and senior officials (Weller, Bakvis and Rhodes 1997). In others party membership for civil servants is well known and important for the appointment process; in others still civil servants are not allowed to align themselves with political

parties. We can see a pattern of ministers using more personal political staff and an increasing tendency to make new senior appointments with an incoming government (OECD 2004a).

Clearly there is no convergence towards a single model of civil service systems (Lægreid and Wise 2007). Most governments still share the main elements of the traditional system of public administration. However, some strong common trends towards modernizing public service are emerging across groups of countries. These include reducing the differences between the public and private sector concerning the status of civil servants, recruitment practices and promotion and mobility systems. A desire to increase managerial autonomy and flexibility by deregulating human resource management, delegating authority and individualizing accountability and performance is apparent (OECD 2005). The pace and comprehensiveness of these trends varies significantly from one country to another and reform activity embraces a wide spectrum. It is far too early to conclude that tenured merit bureaucracy is unsustainable. Traditional, centrally controlled bureaucracy has proven more enduring in countries where the existence of a strong and all-embracing concept of the state is an important part of the national culture.

What we might see for senior services is two trajectories. One represented by senior services that have been modernized but within state traditions and that are rather closed and resistant to external pressure. The second type is more venerable to external pressure, and more open to new management and personnel concepts (Halligan 2003). The first family of countries has their roots in the *Rechtsstaat* tradition of Continental Europe and the second in the Anglo-American public interest systems of the United Kingdom and its former colonies. Norway belongs more to the former trajectory than to the latter.

# The Norwegian context

The 'old Weberian public administration' or civil service, built on centralization and the educational homogeneity of civil servants (jurists), dates back to the Norwegian constitution of 1814 and the establishment of the first hierarchical ministries (Christensen 2003). The gradual development of the institutional fabric through the cultural integration of different social groups over the next 140 years reinforced the centralized state. After World War II corporatist features were added, also as an integrative feature (Christensen and Peters 1999, Olsen 1983). The Labour Party's term in office from 1946 until 1965, when for most of that time it formed majority and single-party governments, labelled the 'one-party state', was in some ways the peak period of the 'old public administration', when there was still homogeneity among leaders and mutual trust. This form of public administration remained very strong into the 1970s, but was modified somewhat by decentralizing elements (Christensen and Lægreid 2008b).

Until the mid-1990s, Norway was a reluctant reformer (Olsen 1996), but later it became more enthusiastic about reforms (Christensen and Lægreid 2008b). During the 1980s there was a moderate move to the right in the political landscape, partly

supported by a modernized and more right-leaning Labour Party, and this gradually changed administrative policy (Christensen and Lægreid 1998a). Nevertheless, when NPM was introduced, Norway did not jump on the band-wagon but remained a reluctant reformer for the next 10–15 years (Olsen 1996). In 1986 the Centre-Right government introduced a modernization program, and the following year the Labour Party proposed a renewal program for the civil service. Both programs were inspired by NPM, but reflected primarily NPM rhetoric and did not result in much action. Starting in the 1990s the corporative system became weaker and Norway gradually introduced some NPM features. Management by Objectives and Results (MBOR) was introduced in all government organizations, followed by the gradual structural devolution of state-owned enterprises and agencies. The most marked NPM-oriented period was during the Conservative-Centre government's term in office from 2001 to 2005. The Red–Green government that came to power in 2005 was elected on an anti-NPM ticket, but it has been slow to reverse or even modify NPM measures (Christensen and Lie 2007).

The Norwegian government has a decentralized tradition when it comes to personnel management. Responsibility for recruitment is delegated to the individual ministry and agency. Recruitment is based on merit and professional background, and political affiliation plays a minor or insignificant role. There is no civil service college, no senior executive service or senior civil service, and no central recruitment unit, something that potentially may create a lot of diversity concerning cultural norms and values, but societal homogeneity has been reflected in cultural homogeneity in the civil service. Norway has been using modest gender quotas for positions in public administration over the past 25 years (Lægreid 1995).

Prior to 1990, the salaries of top civil servants in Norway were determined through negotiations between civil service unions and the state as employer in a system characterized by an egalitarian wage policy, central control, standardization, permanent positions and salaries based on position and seniority. In combination with the strong egalitarian norms of Norwegian society, this tradition means that the salaries of top civil servants were low compared with other countries (Hood and Peters 1994, Lægreid 1994). In 1990 a separate wage system was designed for top civil servants, based on individual contracts. Today some 300 executives are part of the top civil servant pay system. In practice this system has enhanced more flexible pay for top civil servants, but the pay gap between public- and private-sector managers has not decreased. The system is also weak on performance pay, which has been difficult to implement owing to cultural resistance (Lægreid and Roness 2006).

In the Norwegian ministries there have been significant changes in tasks and along demographic dimensions such as gender and education over the past 30 years (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). There has been a radical increase in the proportion of women in the ministries from 15% in 1976 to 48% in 2006. The educational structure has also changed quite a lot. While the proportion of jurists in ministries was reduced from 38% in 1976 to 22% in 2006, the social scientists, dominated by political scientists, increased their share in the same period from 4% to 24%, thereby taking over as the largest educational group. The proportion of economists has remained relatively stable.

On the other hand there has also been a stable pattern over time regarding ruleorientation and role considerations. From 1976 to 2006 there was no general decline in rule-orientation. And the importance of signals from political executives and professional considerations remained strong and stable from 1986 to 2006. Thus, the administrative culture seems to have been quite resistant to the reform ideas advanced by the NPM movement. The NPM movement does not represent a decisive move away from a rule-based approach.

One structural change is that more civil servants in the ministries now work on planning and coordination tasks and fewer on single cases. While the percentage of civil servants in the ministries having single cases as their main task decreased from 28% in 1976 to 7% in 2006, the proportion having coordination as their main task increased from 8% to 19% (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). This reflects a major principle of NPM, namely that the ministry should be a secretariat for the political leadership (Christensen and Lægreid 1998a). This means that a ministry should take care of planning and coordinative and strategic tasks and also have the capacity to serve the political leadership on an ad hoc basis when needed, while single cases should be moved to the agencies. This is an old doctrine, which became established in 1955 because of capacity problems in the political leadership, but was revived with the NPM reforms (Christensen 2003).

The main picture is increased complexity. New reform tools have been added to existing measures. What we see are reforms with a supplementary function rather than a process in which post-NPM reforms have replaced NPM reforms. New measures have been added without a substantial reduction in the old ones. We do not see a general trend towards a deregulated and entrepreneurial government, as suggested by the contemporary reform movement, but rather the emergence of some reshaped and new reform tools often emerging in hybrid forms (Lægreid, Roness and Rubecksen 2007). Traditional Weberian administrative features, post-Weberian reform tools, NPM features and post-NPM measures are being combined in a complex way (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a). The current reform of the welfare administration in Norway, merging the employment and national insurance administrations into a new agency and forming a partnership with social services on the local level, is the most comprehensive administrative reform ever and typically informed by post-NPM ideas (Christensen, Fimreite and Lægreid 2007).

# Theoretical approaches

We will use three perspectives to examine variety in competence in the Norwegian central civil service. The first perspective is the reform perspective. This perspective proceeds from the notion that there is a connection between the organization and content of administrative reform and the competence needed in the civil service, and that reform influences this competence. This perspective contains both structural and cultural elements. Structurally, different reform waves will entail different methods of organization and will therefore also influence the civil servants' competencies in different ways, because the structural context they operate in will change.

We will distinguish between four types of reform tools (see Appendix). They are performance management tools, structural devolution tools, market tools and cultural management tools.

While the first three types have strong NPM features, the last one has more typical post-NPM features (Christensen and Lægreid 2008a).

What relationship can we expect between administrative reforms and the types of competence emphasized? The main thought is that it will vary according to how relevant reforms are for different civil servants, and that different reforms will have differentiated effects on the four types of competence. If we first take NPM reform elements, we would expect that civil servants scoring high on the importance they attach to NPM reforms will also score high on policy advice and managerial competence, which are typical elements of such reforms, but low on boundary-spanning competence. Concerning Fachkompetenz skills the expectation is less clear. On the one hand, NPM is preoccupied with devolution and professional autonomy, and potentially also therefore with Fachkompetenz, but whether this will further enhance the traditionally strong emphasis on Fachkompetenz in the civil service is not that obvious.

Post-NPM reforms are more characterized by vertical and horizontal coordination and structural de-specialization (like mergers), but also increased collaboration, and the development of more common cultural norms and value-based management (Christensen, Lie and Lægreid 2007). We would expect civil servants mainly experiencing post-NPM measures to score highest on boundary-spanning competence, because that is the most typical post-NPM feature. They will probably score somewhat lower than civil servants experiencing more NPM reforms on the three other types of competence, particularly on managerial competence.

The second perspective is a *structural perspective* (Christensen et al. 2007, Egeberg 2003, Simon 1957). The point of departure is that the structural context of civil servants will influence how they think and act, regardless of whether there are administrative reforms or not, i.e. there are some structural factors that work more generally. The first variable, administrative level, differentiates between civil servants working in ministries and subordinate agencies. Traditionally in Norway ministries are supposed to attend more to law-making, planning, coordination and general policies than agencies, which are more concerned with the implementation of policy, single cases and technical aspects in a specific sector (Christensen and Roness 1999). There has been a strong policy doctrine over the past 50 years that the ministries should be secretariats for political executives and have policy advice as their main task. One could argue about whether this distinction is all that clear in practice, but it is obvious that there are some differences in this direction. Concerning the relevance of administrative level related to competence, we would expect civil servants in ministries to score highest on policy advice competence, because they are closer to the political leadership; and high on boundaryspanning competence, because the ministries formally are meant to have broader contacts and collaboration than agencies, which are more narrowly sector-oriented. On the other hand, we would expect civil servants working in agencies to score highest on Fachkompetenz, because they are supposed to have 'purer' roles concerning such competence, and high on managerial skills, since agencies are more in the service delivery and goal-fulfilment business.

The second structural variable is *formal position* in the civil service hierarchy. The general assumption is that the hierarchical level on which civil servants work will differentiate the obligations and competencies they have (Egeberg 2003). We would

expect leaders on a higher level to score highest on policy advice and boundary-spanning competence, because they are closest to the political leadership and have the most comprehensive obligations regarding collaboration and coordination with other actors and organizations, both public and private. On the other hand, we would expect executive officers to score highest on managerial competence and executive officers lowest down in the hierarchy highest on Fachkompetenz skills.

The third structural variable used is formal *tasks*, and we divided this into two types – coordination and single cases. We would expect civil servants formally working with coordinative tasks to score highest on boundary-spanning competence and policy advice, but lower on *Fachkompetenz* and managerial competence. Civil servants working with single cases are expected to score highest on *Fachkompetenz* and managerial competence, and lower on policy advice and boundary-spanning competence.

We will also apply a *demographic perspective* (Lægreid and Olsen 1978, Pfeffer 1983). The logic behind such a perspective is that the background of civil servants is of relevance for how they think and act. This may either be related to social background, like gender or education, or to the experience people have gathered during their career in the civil service – i.e., tenure. Demography can either be individually oriented, as it is here, or more relational or contextual involving such things as the analysis of cohorts or the relative importance of the educational composition of certain administrative units.

The first demographic variable we use is type of education. Different educational groups may have different normative and content features, and traditionally also different positions and tasks in the civil service. We use four categories of educational background - jurists, social scientists, economists and a more mixed group of other types which we label specialists, such as scientists, engineers, architects, agronomists, physicians, dentists and military officers. Concerning Fachkompetenz skills, we would expect the group of specialists to score highest, because this group contains many strong professions. Social scientists and economists will probably score highest on policy advice competence, partly because of the content of their education and partly because of the tasks and positions they have. We would expect jurists to score high on managerial competence, not so much because of their educational background, but because many of them spent a lot of time working with single cases, while we would also expect economists to score high on this variable, mostly because of the cultural compatibility between their education and the focus on results. We would expect the social scientists to score highest on boundary-spanning competence, primarily because of the content of their education and the kind of tasks they work with.

The second demographic variable is *gender*. We would expect women to score higher than men on *Fachkompetenz*, both because they see this type of competence as crucial for an administrative career, but also because they are overrepresented among executive officers. Further, we would expect women to score lower on policy advice competence, because they are less represented on the administrative leadership levels. We would expect women to score higher on managerial competence, because they are overrepresented among the executive officers, and lower than men on boundary-spanning competence because of being underrepresented among leaders and having a less developed contact network than men.

The last demographic variable is *tenure* which reflects the experience of different positions and tasks civil servants gather at different stages in an administrative career. We would expect civil servants with a long tenure to score lowest on *Fachkompetenz*, because they have more varied experience than people with short tenure, who will focus more on what they have learned in the higher education they have completed fairly recently.<sup>2</sup> Civil servants with long tenure might also score low on managerial competence, because they will be underrepresented among executive officers. But they would be expected to score high on policy advice and boundary-spanning competence, because they are overrepresented among the leaders and have broad networks of contacts. Our different hypotheses are summed up in table 1.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Alternatively, one could argue, based more on a generational perspective, that people with long tenure would attend more to *Fachkompetenz* (Christensen and Lægreid 2007b).

**Table 1:** Expectations on the correlations of reform, structural and demographic factors and different types of competence.

				_
	Fachkompetenz	Policy advice competence	Managerial competence	Boundary- spanning competence
Reform perspective:				
New Public Management measures	High relevance gives high score	High relevance gives high score	High relevance gives high score	High relevance gives low score
Post-NPM measures	High relevance gives medium score	High relevance gives medium score	High relevance gives low score	High relevance gives high score
Structural perspective:				
Administrative level	Agencies score higher	Ministries score higher	Agencies score higher	Ministries score higher
Formal position in hierarchy	Executive officers score highest	Top-level leaders score highest	Medium-level leaders and executive officers score highest	Top-level leaders score highest
Tasks – coordination	Score lowest	Score high/medium	Score lowest	Score highest
Tasks – single cases	Score highest	Score lowest	Score highest	Score lowest
Demographic perspective:				
Type of higher education	Jurists and specialists score highest	Social scientists and economists score highest	Jurist and economists score highest	Social scientists score highest
Gender	Woman more than men	Men more than woman	Women more than men	Men more than women
Tenure	Long tenure scores low	Long tenure scores high	Long tenure scores low	Long tenure scores low

# Data sources

Our method of studying reforms and competence is based on three main elements (Christensen and Lægreid 1999). First, we focus on the response of individual civil servants in ministries and agencies by focusing on their reported competence profile. How the individual civil servants experience competence demands in their daily work along different dimensions is the core of our approach. Second, we choose an extensive

method to cover a lot of ground. In 2006 we conducted a large survey of all civil servants with at least one year of tenure from executive officers to top civil servants in Norwegian ministries and of every third civil servant in the central agencies. 1516 persons in 49 central agencies answered and the response rate was 59 percent. On average there were 31 respondents from each agency, ranging from 112 in the biggest agency to 1 in the smallest. The response rate in the ministries was 67 percent. 1846 responded in the 17 ministries, ranging from 57 in the Ministry of Oil and Energy to 284 in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Third, we took a broad empirical approach to the question of competence, asking the executives the following question: «How important are the following forms of competence in your position?» We then listed four different forms of competence:

- Fachkompetenz, technical knowledge;
- Policy advice competence political judgement and ability to give policy advice;
- Managerial competence ability to get things done. Executive and implementation skills.
- Boundary-spanning competence ability to work across professional boundaries, administrative levels, organizations and policy sectors

For each of these forms of competence, we asked the civil servants to state how important they were on a scale from 1 (very important) to 5 (very unimportant). We will now first describe the general competence profile of civil servants in ministries and central agencies along these dimensions. Second, we will analyze how we might explain the variation in the different forms of competence according to reform, structural and demographic features.

# The dependent variables: the competence profile

Table 2 shows how important civil servants in Norwegian ministries and agencies thought different kinds of competence were in their own position.

Table 2: The competence profile	of civil servants	in Norwegian central	government administration
2006. Percentage.			

	Very important	Important	Less	Un-	N=100%
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	,,,,,,	important	important	
Managerial competence	53	35	9	3	3185
Fachkompetenz	50	33	12	5	3190
Boundary-spanning competence	45	39	11	5	3185
Policy advice competence	34	31	17	11	3175

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Unimportant' includes the values 'unimportant' and 'very unimportant'

Generally the civil servants report a multiple competence profile. Half the civil servants in the ministries and central agencies say that all four kinds of competence are important or very important in their own position. Very few focus on only one type of

competence. Table 2 reveals that the most commonly valued area of competence is managerial competence – i.e., execution, delivery and implementation skills, requiring knowledge and the energy and ability to get things done. 88% report that this is important or very important in their own position. This indicates that NPM-based competence has a relatively strong footing in central government administration. But it is also important to remember that the ability to get things done is a central feature of a functioning bureaucracy that has a far longer history than the NPM movement.

Fachkompetenz or technical competence is also widespread in the civil service. 8 out of 10 civil servants reported that such knowledge was important or very important in their own position. The same is the case with boundary-spanning skills. The ability to work across organizational boundaries, vertically as well as horizontally, is a core competence in the central government administration. This illustrates that areas of competence connected to the old public administration, NPM and post-NPM reforms exist side by side in the central government administration.

Generally, these four types of competence are not seen as alternatives, but rather as complementary or supplementary. There is a strong positive correlation between boundary-spanning skills, skills of execution and implementation and the ability to give policy advice (Table 3). Fachkompetenz or technical competence is more loosely coupled to the three other types of competence. A high level of technical skill does not seem go together with a high level of boundary-spanning skills or the ability to give policy advice. This might indicate that Fachkompetenz as a traditional Weberian competence is seen as different from reform-related competence, meaning that the latter type of competence has added new layers of competence to the civil service.

**Table 3:** Correlations between different forms of competence. Pearson R.

	Policy advice competence	Managerial competence	Boundary-spanning competence
Fachkompetenz	.01	.05*	.00
Policy advice competence		.32**	.42**
Managerial competence			.41**

<sup>\*:</sup> Significant at .05 level; \*\*: Significant at .01-level

Ministries Central agencies Managerial competence 54 51 Fachkompetenz 47 55 Boundary-spanning competence 47 43 Policy advice competence 46 16 N (average) 1842 1344

**Table 4:** Different kinds of competence in ministries and central agencies. Percentage reporting that this competence is very important.

Political judgement or the ability to give good and reliable policy advice, the most hierarchy-related feature, is less widespread in the civil service. 65 percent report that this is an important or very important type of competence in their position. Table 4 reveals that this competence is far more common in ministries than in central agencies. While 46 percent of civil servants in the ministries report that this is a very important type of competence, only 16 percent of their colleagues in central agencies have the same opinion.

# Variations in competence: reforms, structure and demography.

We now turn to the question of how to explain the variety in type of competence. This section focuses on how the scores on the different independent variables, i.e. our indicators of reforms, structural and democratic features, correlate with the different types of competence. First, we present the bi-variate correlations between each of the independent variables and the dependent variables, and then do a multivariate analysis of the relative importance of the various independent variables for the different types of coordination.

# Bivariate analyses

Reform features. Use of performance management tools tends to affect all four types of competence (Table 5). There is a positive correlation between this most popular NPM measure and the NPM-related competence of execution skills and policy advice, but also with the more post-NPM skill of boundary-spanning. There is also a negative correlation between such NPM reforms and the more traditional Fachkompetenz or technical skills. Structural devolution, another NPM feature, is positively correlated with boundary-spanning skills and execution skills. As expected, this is also the case for market tools. Cultural management tools, more related to post-NPM, score high on boundary-spanning skills, but also on execution skills. And such tools have a negative effect on Fachkompetenz. Generally, we see a negative correlation between NPM and

post-NPM tools and Fachkompetenz and a positive correlation with the three other types of competence.

Structural features. There is a strong positive effect of administrative level on policy advice competence, as indicated in Table 4. Regarding Fachkompetenz the relationship is negative, indicating that this kind of ability is more widespread in agencies than in ministries. We also see a strong effect of position on policy advice competence, but also on boundary-spanning skills and to a somewhat lesser extent on execution skills. Tasks also seem to make a difference. Having coordination as a main task tends to enhance boundary-spanning skills, but also execution skills and policy advice; and weaken the importance of Fachkompetenz. For civil servants mainly working on single cases the competence profile is the other way around.

**Table 5**. Bivariate correlations between dependent and independent variables. Pearson R.

	Fachkompetenz	Policy advice competence	Managerial competence	Boundary-spanning competence
Reform tools:				
Performance management tools	08**	.10**	.15**	.12**
Cultural managerial	05**	.03	.13**	.09**
tools	03	.04*	.08**	.08**
Structural devolution tools	03	.00	.09**	.04
Market tools				
Structural variables:				
Administrative level	08**	.36**	.02	.06**
Position	01	.33**	.14**	.20**
Main task – coordination	13**	.09**	.08**	.14**
	.08**	09**	11**	11**
Main task – single cases				
Demographic variables:				
Jurist	.12**	.10**	03	06**
	02	.06**	05	05**
Economist	11**	.17**	.07**	.12**
Social scientist	.06**	.03	.00	.07**
Specialist				
Tenure	03	06**	02	07**
Gender	.00	.05**	11**	.01**

<sup>\*:</sup> Significant at .05 level; \*\*: Significant at .01-level; For values on the dependent and independent variables, see appendix.

Demographic features. Table 5 reveals that there is a pretty clear effect of education. Social scientists score high on policy advice, boundary-spanning skills and execution competence, but low on Fachkompetenz. Jurists score high on Fachkompetenz and policy advice, but low on boundary-spanning skills. There is also a positive effect of being an economist and having policy advice knowledge, but they score low on boundary-spanning skills. Specialists tend to have good Fachkompetenz but not boundary-spanning skills. There is also an effect of tenure: Civil servants with long tenure tend to score higher on policy advice and boundary-spanning skills than those with short tenure. Men score higher on execution skills, but lower on policy advice than women.

# Multivariate analyses

We now turn to the question of the relative explanatory power of the different independent variables. The multivariate analyses, summed up in Table 6, generally confirm the pattern revealed in the bivariate analyses.

First, the independent variables can only explain a minor part of the variation in the different types of competence. This is especially the case when it comes to *Fachkompetenz*, boundary-spanning skills and execution skills. Regarding ability to give policy advice, our independent variables can explain quite a lot of the variation.

**Table 6:** Summary of regression analyses by structural, cultural and demographic features. Linear regression. Beta coefficients.

	Fachkompetenz	Policy advice competence	Managerial competence	Boundary spanning competence
Reform tools:				
Performance- management tools	07**	.10**	.08**	.09**
Cultural managerial	01	-	.07*	.00
tools	-	.04	.00	.07**
Structural devolution tools	-	-	.00	-
Market tools				
Structural variables:				
Administrative level	06**	.31**	-	.05**
Position	-	.24**	.12**	.14**
Main task – coordination	11**	.04*	.06**	.10**
Main task – single cases	.03	01	08**	07**
Demographic variables:				
Jurist	.12**	.11**	-	-
Economist	-	.06**	-	03*
Social scientist	05*	.15**	.06**	.11**
Specialist	.07**	-	-	.07**
Tenure	-	02	-	03
Gender	-	.03*	14**	-
R	.22	.50	.27	.30
R2	.05	.25	.07	.09
Adjusted R2	.05	.25	-07	.08
F statistics	18.764	86.139	24.670	25.117
Significance of F	.000	.000	.000	.000
N	2929	2849	2859	2887

<sup>\*:</sup> Significant at .05 level; \*\*: Significant at .01 level. —: Not included. Only variables that have a significant bivariate correlation are included in the analyses.<sup>3</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jurists are excluded from the analyses of boundary spanning competences to avoid too many dichotomous variables based on the same variable at nominal level. A separate analyses including jurists but excluding economists show that there is no significant effect of jurists.

Second, the most important explanatory variables are structural features related to administrative level, position and tasks. Administrative level has a strong effect on competence related to policy advice. Political judgement and knowledge related to policy advice are much more common in ministries than in central agencies. This reflects the NPM reforms, but is also related to an old administrative doctrine in Norway going back to the 1950s, stating that the ministries should operate as a secretariat for the political leadership. It is, however, interesting to see that there is no effect of administrative level on execution skills. This is a bit surprising given the split between policy-implementing central agencies and policy-formulating ministries. That said, Fachkompetenz is more common in agencies, while boundary-spanning skills are stronger in the ministries.

There is also a strong effect of formal position on policy advice. It is primarily civil servants in higher positions who agree that policy advice is a main competence component of their position. Higher civil servants also tend to have stronger boundary-spanning skills and execution and implementation skills. Tasks also make a difference. Civil servants who have coordination as a main task tend less towards *Fachkompetenz* and more towards boundary-spanning skills, but also towards execution competence and policy advice. In contrast, civil servants mainly occupied with single cases are less linked to boundary-spanning skills and execution competence.

Third, administrative reforms also make a difference. The strongest effects are related to use of performance-management tools. Use of performance-management tools such as steering systems for subordinate bodies, goal formulation and operationalization, performance reporting, evaluation, performance steering, quality management systems and yearly operational planning systems, tend to enhance policy advice competence, boundary-spanning competence and execution skills, but not Fachkompetenz and technical skills. There is also a positive effect of structural devolution tools on boundary-spanning skills and of post-NPM tools, related to cultural managerial features, on execution skills. When controlling for other factors there is no effect of market-related tools. A separate analysis of the number of overall reform tools used (not documented here) indicates that civil servants who are exposed to many reform tools tend to score high on execution competence and also on boundary-spanning tools, but not on policy advice. For Fachkompetenz it is the other way around, meaning that civil servants exposed to few reform tools score high on this area of competence.

Fourth, demographic variables also make a difference. There are significant differences in areas of competence between civil servants with different professional backgrounds. People trained in law tend more to Fachkompetenz and policy advice. This reflects the fact that traditionally the Norwegian central government administration was staffed by jurists. Traditionally, legal expertise has dominated Fachkompetenz in the central government, and jurists tended to fill central policy advice positions. This seems still to be the case to some extent. Social scientists score high on policy advice and boundary-spanning skills but also to some extent on execution skills. The effect of economists on different kinds of competence is weaker, but there is a significant positive effect on policy advice. Specialists tend to score high on Fachkompetenz and also to some extent on boundary-spanning skills. There is one significant and rather strong effect of gender – men score higher than women on execution skills, the ability to get

things done and implementation skills. When other variables are controlled for, there are no significant effects of tenure.

# Discussion

The first question focused on how widespread the different kinds of competence are. We showed that all of the four types of competence, from the different development phases, were rather widespread, showing a complex and multi-layered competence profile. Policy advice competence scores somewhat lower than the other three, primarily because civil servants in ministries score much higher on this measure than civil servants in agencies, who are far removed from the political executive.

A correlation of the different kinds of competence shows that Fachkompetenz does not correlate with the other three measures, while the other three kinds of competence, combining NPM and post-NPM measures, strongly inter-correlate. This may show first that there are clearly hybrids of different kinds of competence combining policy advice, managerial competence and boundary-spanning skills, (Hood and Lodge 2006) - i.e. areas of competence from two reform phases coexist. Boundary-spanning competence is probably not as distinctly post-NPM as we thought, but has more of a general hierarchy component built in that could also be relevant for NPM. We face a creative mix of different kinds of competence. Second, it also indicates that Fachkompetenz is a traditional basic form of competence that will exist regardless of what type of reform occurs. The second and main question posed was related to explaining variety in the four competence measures, based on three sets of independent variables operationalizing the reform, the structural and the demographic perspectives. Overall, the independent variables connected to the structural perspective seem to explain more of the variety in the competence measures than the demographic and especially the reform perspective. This result seems to support the notion that some of the structuralhierarchical factors, related to basic Weberian features, are more robust and important for the competence profile than the demands of reforms and the background of civil servants.

Looking at the four sets of dependent variables, Fachkompetenz stands out because more of the significant correlations with the independent variables are negative than positive, while quite the opposite is true for the three other competence variables. Civil servants working with performance management tools, in ministries, with coordination or who are social scientists all score low on Fachkompetenz, while jurists and specialists with a science background score high, indicating a rather narrow definition of the concept of Fachkompetenz. Interestingly enough jurists and various types of specialists were the basic groups that constituted the central civil service in Norway for the first 30–40 years after the Constitution of 1814 and the start of the union with Sweden (Christensen 2003). The economists, who emerged as a different higher educational group in the civil service after World War II (national economists from the 1950s and business economists from the 1980s show no significant correlation with Fachkompetenz, while the social scientists, who began entering the civil service in the 1970s, score low on Fachkompetenz.

The strongest single positive correlations are: the one between administrative level and policy advice competence, showing that civil servants in ministries are rather closer to the political executive than the ones in the agencies and therefore need this competence. A similarly strong correlation is the one between position and policy advice competence, showing that inside both the ministries and the agencies administrative leaders need this competence more as part of their formal obligations. For the same variable, the social scientists score highest, probably reflecting the relevance of their education and their expertise in means-end or consequential thinking (Christensen, Lægreid and Zuna 2001).

If we look at each perspective and the connecting independent variables, there are both systematic similarities which accord with our expectations, but also some variety and deviation. According to the reform perspective, we expected to find quite a different profile of competence between the NPM and the post-NPM measures. This is not the case overall, even though there are some features of this. Of the 16 expectations, four were fulfilled, two pointed in the opposite direction and 10 showed no result. Performance management tools are positively correlated with two of the competences related to NPM, but also to the one post-NPM measure. Cultural management tools, related to post-NPM, only correlate positively with managerial competence, an NPM-related area of competence.

If we move on to the structural variables, the ones that overall explain the most variety in the dependent variables, of the 16 expectations 10 were fulfilled, two of the correlations pointed in the opposite direction and four showed no result. The main result here is that the three NPM and post-NPM types of competence correlative positively, in some cases strongly – i.e., with working in the ministries, being a leader and having coordinative tasks. The same dependent variables correlate negatively with having single cases as a main task. This result shows clearly that reform activities are very hierarchically oriented, partly because of formal obligations, partly because of the advantage of having a broader perspective at the top of the hierarchy. Civil servants in ministries who perform coordinative tasks score lower on Fachkompetenz. This result illustrates that civil servants concerned with coordination and single cases, respectively, are a different breed, because the two types demand different kinds of competence and orientation

Among the 24 expectations related to the demographic variables, 7 showed the expected correlations, three showed opposite results and 14 showed no result. Among civil servants with different educational backgrounds the jurists scored highest on *Fachkompetenz*, as expected, but also high on policy advice competence, contrary to our expectations, something that may have to do with them being overrepresented among leaders. Social scientists scored low on *Fachkompetenz*, high on both policy advice competence and boundary-spanning competence, as expected, but also high on managerial competence, contrary to our expectations, which may reflect that this group has become more enthusiastic about NPM than is often thought. Contrary to our expectations, which were based on the fact that women are overrepresented among executive officers, men scored much higher on managerial competence than women, which may reflect the fact that this kind of competence is more related to leadership positions in which men are overrepresented.

# Conclusion

First, we have shown that there exists a multiple, partly cumulative and complex competence profile in the central civil service in Norway. It is multiple in the sense that all the four types of competence that characterized the different phases the civil service has gone through over the last 30 years are important, although policy advice competence, the most hierarchy-related variable scores lowest. It is cumulative in the sense that the three reform-related types of competence are strongly positively correlated. Civil servants use a mixture of competencies in their work that makes them an integrative force in the multi-level governance of the enabling state (Raadschelders et al. 2007). In contrast to the rhetoric about moving central government organizations towards a more streamlined managerialism, we see a practice that is more complex. Old Weberian types of competence exist side by side with NPM-related and post-NPM types of competence, thus producing a hybrid Neo-Weberian bureaucracy (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). We see a sedimentation process resulting in a more pluralistic competence profile. This confirms the argument of institutional overlap through piecemeal development as opposed to radical shifts from one model to another (Hood and Lodge 2006, Skowroneck 1982). The civil servants' competence profile is, however, also complex in the sense that different perspectives related to different independent variables show a lot of variety.

Second, Fachkompetenz shows quite different features from the three reform-related dependent variables. It is primarily associated with jurists and science specialists, but definitely not with performance-management tools, working in ministries and coordinative tasks. By contrast, the three reform-related areas of competence are positively correlated with hierarchy-related independent variables like administrative level (working in ministries), position (being a leader) and having coordinative tasks. Among those three dependent variables, policy advice competence, the variable assumed to be most hierarchy-related, shows the strongest positive correlation with the independent structural variables. Overall social scientists score highest on reform-related areas of competence, but low on Fachkompetenz, which probably means their educational background is more conducive to developing this kind competence, but also that it is more related to the design and development of different aspects of administrative policy than to the technical content of policies. Overall, these results indicate that there is a certain amount of competence fragmentation, meaning that some educational groups have stronger Fachkompetenz, while other, more modern ones, like economists and social scientists, have more reform competence.

Third, of the three sets of independent variables, related to the perspectives, the structural variables go furthest in explaining the variety in the dependent variables. This accords with several other studies of the attitudes and behaviour of central civil servants, and shows that Weber is alive and kicking (Egeberg 2003). This in spite of a lot of talk about network-related governance and more structural flexibility. Structural position definitely plays a key role in decision-making behaviour and competencies.

The main result for the set of demographic variables is that social scientists have a different competence profile from the jurists and the specialists, reflecting the distinction between traditionalists and modernists (Christensen and Lægreid 1998b).

Concerning the third group of independent variables, the reform tools, the only independent variable showing significant correlations for all four areas of competence is performance-management tools. It is interesting that this variable is an NPM feature that is very common but seen as quite moderate, while the other two NPM-oriented independent variables – structural devolution and market tools – are both less common and more controversial in Norway. So reform-related competence is obviously connected to the frequency of certain tasks.

Our findings do not comply with a general thesis of de-professionalization of the civil service (Suleiman 2003) or a decline in a public bureaucracy with expert civil servants at its core (Goetz 2007). Civil servants in central government bodies are still carriers of institutional expertise that give them a solid power basis (Page and Wright 2007). Our conclusion is rather that the kinds of competence required in the civil service have become more complex (Hood and Lodge 2006). There are a number of areas of competence that score high among civil servants. Civil servants in central agencies and ministries are not only technical specialists; they are also policy advisers, efficient implementers and have boundary-spanning skills. They both act as senior managers and help to shape policies and need to maintain a delicate balance between different competencies. Most of them are highly interrelated and the variation in the competence among civil servants cannot be traced back to a single factor but is related to reform efforts as well as structural and demographic features. What we see are areas of competence that overlap, compete and supplement one another and thus produce organizational complexity rather than the dominance of one specific kind of competence.

# References

- Aberbach, J.D. and B.A.Rockman (1988). Image IV Revisited: Executive and Political Roles. *Governance*, 1(1): 1–25.
- Aberbach, J.D. and B.A. Rockman (1994). Civil Servants and Policymakers: Neutral or Responsive Competence? *Governance*, 7 (4):461–469.
- Bardach, E. (1998). Getting agencies to work together. The art and practice of managerial craftsmanship. Washington, DC: The Brooking Institution.
- Bekke, H.A.G.M and F.M. Van der Meer, eds. (2000) Civil Service Systems in Western Europe. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Campbell, C. and B.G.Peters (1988). The Politics/Administration Dichotomy. Death or Merely Change? *Governance*, 1(1): 79–99.
- Christensen, T. (2003). Narrative of Norwegian Governance: Elaborating the Strong State. *Public Administration* 81(1):163–190.
- Christensen, T., A. L. Fimreite and P. Lægreid (2007). Reform of the employment and welfare administrations the challenges of co-coordinating diverse public organizations. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 73 (3): 389–409.
- Christensen, T. and A. Lie (2007). Nyliberalisme og forvaltningspolitikk Frå modernisering til fornying? (New Liberalism and Administrative Policy From Modernization to Renewal?). In D.H. Claes, A. Lie and P.K. Mydske (eds.), *Politikkens vilkår i det nyliberale samfunn* (The Preconditions of Politics in the Neo-Liberal Society). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- Christensen, T., A. Lie and P. Lægreid (2007). Still Fragmented or Reassertion of the Centre? In T. Christensen and P.Lægreid (eds.), *Transcending New Public Management*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998a). Administrative Reform Policy: The Case of Norway. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 64: 457–475.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998b). Den moderne forvaltning (The modern civil service). Oslo: Tano Aschehoug.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid 1999. «New Public Management: Design, Recistance or Transformation?» Public Productivity & Management review, 23 (2): 169–193.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2002). Reformer og lederskap. (Reforms and leadership). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (eds.)(2006). *Autonomy and Regulation. Coping with Agencies in the Modern State.*London: Edward Elgar.
- Christensen, T., P. Lægreid, P.G. Roness and K.A. Røvik (2007). Organization Theory and the Public Sector. Instrument, Culture and Myth. London: Routledge.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2008a). «NPM and beyond Structure, Culture, and Demography». International Review of Administrative Sciences, 74 (1): 7–24.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2008a). «Living in the past? tenure, roles and attitudes in the central civil service. Paper presented at the conference «Governing by Looking Back: How History Matters in Society, Politics and Government», National University, Canberra December 12–14, 2007.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2008b). The Study of Public Administration and Management in Norway. Combining Organizational Theory and Political Science. In W. Kickert, ed. *The Study of Public Management in Europe and the US*. London: Routledge.
- Christensen, T., P. Lægreid and H. R. Zuna (2001). Profesjonspluralisme, statsmodeller og forvaltningsatferd (Professional pluralism, state models and administrative behaviour). In B. S. Tranøy og Ø. Østerud (eds.), Den fragmenterte staten (The fragmented state). Oslo: Ad Notam Gyldendal.
- Christensen, T. and B. G. Peters (1999). Structure, Culture and Governance: A Comparative Analysis of Norway and the United States. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Christensen, T. and P. G. Roness (1999). Den historiske arven (The Historical Heritage). In P. Lægreid and O. K. Pedersen (eds.), Fra ophygning til omhygning av staten. Organisationsforandringer i tre nordiske lande (From State Expansion to State Rebuilding, Organizational Changes in Three Nordic Countries). Copenhagen: Jurist- og Økonomforbundets forlag.
- DiPrete, T. (1989). Bureaucratic Labour Market: The Cases of Federal Civil Service. New York: Plenum.
- Dunleavy, P. and C. Hood (1994). From Old Public Administration to New Public Management. *Public Money and Management*, July–September: 9–16.
- Egeberg, M. (2003). How bureaucratic structure matters: An Organizational Perspective, In B. G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.), *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.
- Goetz, K. (2007). German officials and the Federal Policy Process: The Decline of Sectional Leadership. In E. C. Page and V. Wright (eds.) From the Active to the Enabling State. The Changing Role of Top Officials in European Nations. London: Palgrave.
- Gregory, R. and J. G. Christensen (2004). Similar ends, Different Means: Contractualism and Civil Service Reforms in Denmark and New Zealand. *Governance*, 17 (1): 59-82.
- Gulick, L. (1937). Notes on the Theory on Organizations. With Special Reference to Government. In L. Gulick and L. Urwin (eds.), *Papers on the Science of Administration*. New York: A. M. Kelley.
- Halligan, J. (2003). Leadership and Senior Civil Service in a Comparative Perspective. In B. G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.) Handbook of Public Administration. London: Sage.
- Hood, C., O. James, B. G. Peters and C. Scott, eds. (2004). Controlling Modern Government: Variety, Commonality, and Change. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Hood, C. and M. Lodge (2004). Competency, Bureaucracy and Public Management reform: A Comparative Analysis. *Governance*, 17(3): 313–333.

- Hood, C. and M. Lodge (2005). Aesop with variations: Civil service competency as a case of German tortoise and British hare?» *Public Administration*, 83 (4): 805–882.
- Hood, C. and M. Lodge (2006). The politics of public service bargains. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hood, C. and B. G. Peters, eds. (1994). Rewards at the Top. London: Sage.
- Jacobsen, K. D. (1960). Lojalitet, nøytralitet og faglig uavhengighet (Loyalty, neutrality and professional independence). *Tidsskrift for Samfunnsforskning*, 1: 231–248.
- Kaufman, H. A. (1956) Emerging Conflicts in the Doctrine of Public Administration. *American Political Science Review* 50: 1059–73.
- Kettl, D. F., (1997). The Global Revolution in Public Management: Driving Themes, Missing Links. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 16 (3): 446–462.
- Light, P. C. (1997). The Tides of Reform. New Haven, Connecticut: Yale University Press.
- Lodge, M. and C. Hood (2003). Competency and Bureaucracy: Diffusion, Application and Appropriate Response? West European Politics, 26 (3): 131–152.
- Lægreid, P. (1994). Rewards for High Public Office: The case of Norway. In C. Hood and G. Peters (eds.): Rewards at the Top, 133–145. London: Sage.
- Lægreid, P. (1995). Feminization of the central public administration. In L. Karvonen and P. Selle (eds.): Women in Nordic Politics, 229–248. Aldershot: Dartmouth.
- Lægreid, P. (2001). Transforming Top Civil Servant Systems. In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid (eds.) New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Alsershot: Ashgate.
- Lægreid, P., P. G. Roness, V. W. Rolland and J. E. Ågotnes (2003). The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian state 1947–2003. Working Paper 21/2003 Bergen: Rokkan Centre.
- Lægreid, P. and J.P. Olsen (1978). *Byråkrati og beslutninger* (Bureaucracy and Decisions). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Lægreid, P. and P. G. Roness (2006). Rewards for High Public Office The Case of Norway. Paper presented at the workshop on «The Rewards of High Public Office». ECPR Joint Sessions of Workshops, Nicosia 25–30 April.
- Lægreid, P., P. G.Roness and K. Rubecksen (2007). «Modern management tools in state agencies: The case of Norway» *International Public Management Journal*, 10 (4): 387–413.
- Lægreid, P. and L. Wise (2007). Reforming Human Resource management in Civil service System: Recruitment, Mobility and Representativeness. In J. C. N. Raadschelders, T. A. J. Toonen and F. M. Van der Meer (eds.) *The Civil Service in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*. London: Palgrave.
- OECD (2003). Managing Senior Management. Senior Civil Servant Reform in OECD Member Countries. Paris: OECD.
- OECD (2004a). Public Sector Modernization. Modernizing Public Employment. Paris: OECD.
- OECD (2004b). Trends in Human resource management policies in OECD countries. Paris: OECD.
- OECD (2005). Modernizing Government. The Way Forward. Paris: OECD.
- Olsen, J. P. (1983). The Dilemmas of Organizational Integration in Government. In J. P. Olsen, *Organized Democracy. Political Institutions in a Welfare State the Case of Norway.* Bergen: Universitetsforlaget.
- Olsen, J. P. (1996). Norway: Slow Learner or Another Triumph of the Tortoise? In J. P. Olsen and B. G. Peters (eds.), *Lessons from Experience*. Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Olsen, J.P. (2007). «The Ups and Downs of Bureaucratic Organization». Working Paper 14/2007. Oslo: ARENA.
- Page, E.C., C. Hood and M. Lodge (2005). Conclusion: Is Competency Management a Passing Fad? *Public Administration*, 83 (4): 853–860.
- Page, E.C. and V. Wright, eds. (2007). From the Active to the Enabling State. London: Palgrave.
- Peters, B. G. and J. Pierre, eds. (2004). *Politicization of the Civil Service in Comparative Perspective*. London: Routledge.

- Peters, B. G. and J. Pierre (2006) Governance and Civil Service Systems: From Easy Answers to hard Questions. In J. C. N. Raadschelders, T. A. J. Toonen and F. M. Van der Meer (eds.) *The Civil Service in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*. London: Palgrave.
- Pfeffer, J. (1983). Organizational Demography. Research in Organizational Behaviour. 299–357.
- Pierson, P. (2004). Politics in Time: History, Institutions and Social Analysis. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Pollitt, C. and G. Bouckaert (2004). *Public Management Reform: A Comparative Analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 2.edition.
- Putsey and Hondeghem (2004). Contractualization of top civil servants: an international comparative research. Paper presented at the EGPA Conference, Ljubljana 1–4 September.
- Raadschelders, J. C. N., T. A. J. Toonen and F. M. Van der Meer, eds. (2007). *The Civil Service in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. Comparative Perspectives.* London: Palgrave.
- Rhodes, R. A. W. and P. Weller (2001). *The Changing World of Top Officials: Mandarins or Servants?* London: Open University Press, 2001.
- Simon, H. (1944). Decision Making and Administrative Organizations. *Public Administration Review*, 4 (1): 16–33.
- Simon, H. A. (1957). Administrative Behaviour. New York: Macmillan.
- Skowroneck, S. (1982). Building a New American State. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Streeck, W. and K. Thelen (2005). Beyond Continuity. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Suleiman, E. (2003). Dismantling Democratic States. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Weller, P., H. Bakvis and R. A. W. Rhodes, eds. (1997) The Hollow Crown: Counterwailing Trends in Core Executives. New York: St. Martins Press.
- Wise, L. (1996). International Labour Markets. In H. Bekke, J. Perry and T. Toonen (eds) *Civil Service Systems in Comparative Perspective*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Wise, L. (2003). Representative Bureaucracy. In B. G. Peters and J. Pierre (eds.) *International Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.

**Table A1:** Different families of reform tools. 2006. Factor analyses. Rotated Component Matrix. Principal component analyses. Varimax rotation with Kaiser Normalization. N=1874

		Component		
	Performance	Cultural managerial	Structural	Market
	management	tools	devolution	tools
Change in form of affiliation	.28	.00	.59	.20
Delegation of tasks to lower levels	.20	.03	.74	.09
Privatization	.05	.08	.69	.31
Public-private partnerships	.12	.16	.69	.21
User participation	.18	.37	.59	.18
Deregulation, rule simplification	.12	.36	.63	.00
Pay and personnel	.15	.41	.37	.22
flexibility/autonomy Steering systems for subordinate	.57	.14	.40	.12
agencies	.47	.56	.17	.03
Development dialogue, leadership	.45	.25	.22	.39
training Budgeting flexibility/autonomy	.77	.28	.16	.18
Goal formulation and	.82	.22	.18	.20
operationalization	.81	.28	.17	.18
Performance reporting, evaluation	.66	.33	.17	.18
Performance steering	.08	.14	.21	.77
Quality management systems	.17	.15	.20	.72
Internal markets, internal pricing	.60	.43	.14	.15
Contract systems	.44	.44	.15	.36
Yearly operational planning	.26	.71	.14	.26
Balanced scorecard	.33	.67	.16	.08
Value-based management	.19	.60	.21	.23
Ethical guidelines	.21	.70	.10	.25
Service charter	.24	.76	.09	.13
Team-based management	.25	.38	.09	.58
Knowledge-based management	.23	.21	.25	.63
Benchmarking	.26	.16	.40	.45
Purchaser/provider systems				
More autonomous regulatory agencies				

Performance management tools: Additive index based on variables in table A1 with factor loading on .50 and over on factor 1 (bold): 0 (no tool important) to 6 (all 6 tools important).

Cultural management tools: Additive index based on variables in table A1 with factor loading on .50 and over on factor 2 (bold): 6 (all tools important) to 0 (no tool important).

Structural devolution tools: Additive index based on variables in table A1 with factor loading on .50 and over on factor 3 (bold): 6 (all tools important) to 0 (no tool important)

*Market tools:* Additive index based on variables in table A1 with factor loading on .50 and over on factor 4 (bold): 4 (all tools important) to 0 (no tool important),.

Administrative level: 1: Ministries; 2: Central agencies

Position: 1: Administrative leaders; 2: Executive officers

Main task – coordination:1: Yes; 2 NoMain task – single cases1: Yes; 2 NoJurist:1: Yes; 2 NoEconomist:1: Yes; 2: NoSocial science1: Yes; 2: No

Specialist (natural science, engineer, architect,

agronomist, physician, dentist, military academy) 1: 1: Yes; 2: No Gender: 1: man; 2: woman

Tenure in central government:

1: 5 years or less; 2: More than 5 years

Dependent variables:

1: 5 years or less; 2: More than 5 years

1(very important) to 5 (very unimportant).

4-2006

5-2006

### WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, phone: +47 55 58 97 10, e-mail: <a href="mailto:post@rokkan.uib.no">post@rokkan.uib.no</a>, http://www.rokkansenteret.uib.no

### 2008

1-2008	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Living in the past? – tenure and attitudes in the central
	civil service». January 2008.
2-2008	Jan-Kåre Breivik og Bodil Ravneberg: Rom for refleksjon. Kirkens Bymisjon og oppfølging av bostedsløse. April 2008.
3-2008	Hans-Erik Ringkjøb og Jacob Aars: Får vi også vere med? Om kvinner i norsk lokalpolitikk.
	Mai 2008.
4-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite og Per Lægreid: Byråkrati og partnerskap hånd i hånd? Om samordningsutfordringer i NAV. Mai 2008.
5-2008	Ole Johnny Olsen: Institusjonelle endringsprosesser i norsk fag- og yrkesutdanning.
3-2000	Fornyelse eller gradvis omdannelse? Mai 2008.
6-2008	Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: Reorganizing the Welfare State Administration. May 2008.
7-2008	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: Administrative Reforms and Competence in Central
	Government Organizations. June 2008.
	2007
1-2007	Kari Ludvigsen og Svanaug Fjær: «Varig bolig framfor hospits». Februar 2007.
2-2007	Kari Ludvigsen og Reidun Faye: «Botilbud for ressurskrevende brukere innen lokal
	helsetjeneste i omstilling. Evaluering av prøveprosjektet Bufellesskapet Vik i Jondal
	kommune». May 2007.
3-2007	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «NPM and Beyond – Leadership, Culture, and
	Demography». June 2007.
4-2007	Tord Skogedal Lindén: «Unearthing a European Union Family Policy. The Impact of Social
	Protetction Policies». August 2007.
5 -2007	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «The Challenge of Coordination in Central Government
	Organizations». October 2007.
6-2007	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: « The Regulatory Orthodoxy in practice» November 2007
7-2007	Hilde Randi Høydal« Samordning av samfunnssikkerhet i norsk sentralforvaltning»
	November 2007
8-2007	Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: « Crisis management - The Case of
	Internal Security in Norway. » December 2007
9-2007	Torkel Grahm – Haga: «Myten om et integrert tilsyn; en studie av Mattilsynets etablering og
	drift» Desember 2007.
	2006
1-2006	Martin Byrkjeland: Høgare utdanningstilbod på Vestlandet og i Agder-fylka. May 2006.
2-2006	Svanaug Fjær: «Dagsverket – lavterskel arbeidstilbud for rusavhengige. Evalueringsrapport».
	June 2006.
3-2006	Birgit Skjelbred-Knudsen Valde: «Norsk anti-korrupsjonspolitikk – svar på behov eller utløst
	av en internasjonal trend». June 2006.
4.2006	The state of the s

Håkon Høst: «Kunnskapsstatus vedrørende rekruttering og utdanning til pleie- og

*Ingrid Helgøy, Sturla Herfindal og Torgeir Sveri*: «Undersøkelse av hovedfags- og masterstudenters gjennomføring og vurdering av studiesituasjonen». Juni 2006.

omsorgstjenestene i nordiske land». June 2006.

- 6-2006 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The whole-of-government approach regulation, performance, and public-sector reform». August 2006.
- **7-2006** *Martin Byrkjeland:* «Kortare arbeidstid Eit oversyn over diskusjonen om arbeidstidsforkortingar i Noreg 1880–2006». August 2006.
- **8-2006** *Even Nilssen:* «The EU Fight Against Poverty and Social Exclusion. Activation, Targeting and the Sustainability of the Welfare State». November 2006.
- 9-2006 Merethe Mæland Bertelsen: «Omorganisering av konkurransetilsynet». November 2006.
- **10-2006** *Rune Ervik*: «European Pension Policy Initiatives and National Reforms: Between Financial Sustainability and Adequacy». December 2006.
- 11-2006 Kaia Christina I. Grahm-Haga: «Utvikling av forvaltningsrevisjon i Norge». December 2006.
- **12-2006** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Modern Regulatory Agencies Professional and Judicial Objectivity or Increased Complexity in Decision-Making?». December 2006.
- **13-2006** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Modern Management Tools in Norwegian State Agencies: Regulation Inside Government or Shopping Basket?». December 2006.
- 14-2006 *Tom Christensen, Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid:* «Reform of the Employment and Welfare Administrations the Challenges of Co-ordinating Diverse Public Organisations». December 2006.

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø*: «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». May 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». May 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». May 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?». September 2005.
- **5-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Regulating Regulatory Organizations: Controlling Norwegian Civil Service Organizations». September 2005.
- 6-2005 Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Regulatory Reforms and Agencification». November 2005.
- **7-2005** Anne Lise Fimreite and Per Lægreid: «Specialization and Coordination: Implications for Integration and Autonomy in a Multi-Level System». November 2005.
- **8-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Performance Management in Practice The Norwegian Way». November 2005.
- **9-2005** *Stig Helleren:* «Omstilling i Arbeidstilsynet: Tilsynsmeldingens konsekvenser for strategi og organisering». November 2005.
- **10-2005** *Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson:* «Europeanization of Nordic Central Governments: Towards a Transnational Regulatory State?». November 2005.
- 11-2005 *Kari Ludvigsen and Kari Tove Elvbakken:* «The Public, the Mother and the Child. Public Health Initiatives Promoting the Strong and Happy Child Focusing on Food and Mental Health». December 2005.
- **12-2005** *Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy*: «Overcoming the Barrieres and Seizing the Opportunities for Active Ageing in Norway: Report from an Expert Panel Meeting». December 2005.
- 13-2005 Ingrid Helgøy: «Active Ageing and the Norwegian Health Care System». December 2005.
- **14-2005** *Martin Byrkjeland og Knut Grove:* «Perspektiv på bygdeutvikling». December 2005.
- **15-2005** *Haldor Byrkjeflot:* «The Rise of a Healthcare State? Recent Healthcare Reforms in Norway». December 2005.
- **16-2005** *Monica Skjøld Johansen:* «Penga eller livet? Lederutfordringer i det reformerte norske sykehusvesenet». December 2005.
- 17-2005 *Kirsti Malterud, Kari Tove Elvbakken og Per Solvang*: «Helsekameratene. Gruppe for flerfaglig forskning om helse og sykdom i kulturelt perspektiv, Universitetet i Bergen 1999–2005». December 2005.

- **1-2004** Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter: «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.
- **2-2004** *Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby*: «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- 3-2004 *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- **4-2004** *Morten Dyrdal:* «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- 5-2004 Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren: «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- 6-2004 Marit Tjomsland: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- **8-2004** Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad:* «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». May 2004.
- 10-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.
- **11-2004** *Bodil Ravneberg:* «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det? Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i 'Prosjektet Amalie' i Åsane». October 2004.
- **12-2004** Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad: «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- **13-2004** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- 14-2004 Lise Hellebø: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- 17-2004 *Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen:* «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.
- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.
- **19-2004** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.
- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen*: «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». December 2004.

- **23-2004** *Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg*: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». December 2004.
- **24-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen 'Enhetlig ledelse' sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». December 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». December 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **28-2004** Frode Meland: «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». March 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- **3-2003** Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås: «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 Lise Hellebø: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- 6-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- **8-2003** *Rune Ervik:* «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». May 2003.
- **10-2003** *Simon Neby:* «Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner». May 2003.
- 11-2003 Nina Berven: «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.
- **18-2003** *Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy:* «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.
- **19-2003** Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». December 2003. HEB.

- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume:* «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- 23-2003 Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen: «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». December 2003.
- **25-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «Downstream merger with upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
- **26-2003** *Ingrid Drexel:* «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence an Instrument of Social and Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization No Problem? Lessons from the Italian Case». December 2003.

- **1-2002** *Håkon Høst:* «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?». April 2002.
- **2-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang:* «Rome a Temporary Deaf City! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **3-2002** *Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang:* «Roma en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
- **4-2002** *Christian Madsen:* «Spiller det noen rolle? om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». June 2002
- **5-2002** *Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen*: «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». June 2002. HEB.
- 6-2002 Tor Helge Holmås: «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.
- 7-2002 Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud: «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». July
- 8-2002 Torstein Haaland: «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». July 2002.
- **9-2002** *Kristin Strømsnes:* «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
- **10-2002** *Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik:* «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
- 11-2002 Knut Helland: «Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
- **12-2002** *Nina Berven:* «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **13-2002** *Johannes Hjellbrekke:* «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **14-2002** *Atle Møen:* «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **15-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
- **16-2002** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education Systems». Oktober 2002.
- 17-002 Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson: «Europeanization of Public Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States». November 2002.
- **18-2002** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid*: «Trust in Government the Relative Importance of Service Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.

- **19-2002** *Marit Tjomsland:* «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
- **20-2002** *Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.:* «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **21-2002** *Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad*: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital Investment». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2002** *Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad*: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
- **23-2002** *Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars*: «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering. Tre innlegg». December 2002.
- **24-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». December 2002.
- **25-2002** *Knut Grove*: «Mellom 'non-intervention' og 'samfundsvillie'. Statleg og kommunal regulering av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». December 2002.
- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». December 2002.
- **27-2002** *Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås:* «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars*: «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». December 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». December 2002.
- **31-2002** *Hjørdis Grove:* «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». December 2002.